Workshop for employers' organizations in East and southern Africa on a time-bound action plan to combat HIV/AIDS

Mombasa, Kenya, 26-27 November 2001

Preface

The ILO's Programme on HIV/AIDS was created following a resolution passed at the International Labour Conference in June 2000, asking the Director-General to increase the capacity and competence of the ILO to address HIV/AIDS. The resolution recognized the impact of HIV/AIDS on the world of work at all levels – on workers, their rights and livelihoods; on employers, enterprises and productivity; and on governments, public services, and the national economy. It also recognised that the ILO's core mandate, tripartite structure and decent work agenda give it the right, the responsibility and the means to respond effectively to the epidemic.

Over 25 million workers are infected with HIV and millions more are affected by the epidemic in addition to the tragic situation of children orphaned by AIDS. The ILO is ideally placed to help prevent the spread of HIV and mitigate its impact by mobilizing its tripartite constituents – governments, employers and workers; its workplace programmes of education and training; its experience in standard-setting and the protection of rights; and its global network of offices and technical cooperation projects.

It is widely acknowledged that the role of employers is critical in translating a general awareness and concern about HIV/AIDS into concrete action at the workplace. There are examples of imaginative programmes from all regions that employers have developed in cooperation with governments and workers to improve working conditions, protect rights at work, and extend social protection. In November 2000, the ILO sponsored a meeting in Douala, Cameroon, of Employers' organizations from West and Central Africa to exchange information and review workplace action against AIDS. This resulted in the 'Appel de Douala', which has helped promote and support ongoing activities in the subregion. To complement the Douala workshop, Employers' organizations in East and Southern Africa proposed a similar meeting for their region, one focused not only on information exchange and awareness-raising but on the production of a concrete action plan. The meeting, held in Mombasa, Kenya, in November 2001, also offered the opportunity to introduce the new ILO code of practice on HIV/AIDS and the World of Work, and to discuss its application by employers. The participants agreed on the severe, indeed disastrous, impact of the HIV epidemic on their enterprises and workers, and expressed concern for the future. They nevertheless shared a belief in the possibility of taking effective action, and of their own responsibility as employers to support national and workplace efforts to combat HIV/AIDS.

The report of the Mombasa workshop presents an overview of the range of activities undertaken by employers in the sub-region, and serves as a useful guide to the development of policies and programmes in the world of work. The action plan, in particular, is a practical example of the steps which need to be taken in order to develop and implement workplace-based action to combat HIV/AIDS.

Contents

	Page
Preface	iii
Introduction	1
Keynote addresses	1
Case Study	2
Panel discussion: The international response to HIV/AIDS	3
The relevance to enterprises of the ILO code of practice on HIV/AIDS and the world of work	4
Strengthening the capacities of employers' organizations to combat HIV/AIDS	5
Panel discussion: Enterprise programmes on HIV/AIDS	6
Developing a time-bound action plan to combat HIV/AIDS	8
Conclusions	9
Recommendations for action by the ILO	9
Appendices:	
I. Action plan	11
II. Workshop programme	13
III. List of participants	15

Introduction

The Workshop was hosted and organized by the Kenya Federation of Employers (FKE), in collaboration with the ILO and with support from the International Organization of Employers (IOE). Its purpose was threefold:

- first, to complement the workshop held for employers' organizations in West and Central Africa in November 2000, with the intention of raising awareness about the implications of HIV/AIDS for enterprises, and mobilizing commitment to action;
- second, to introduce the ILO code of practice on HIV/AIDS and the world of work as a guide to policy development and programming for employers and their workplace partners;
- third, to draft an action plan for employers' organizations to ensure that the process of implementing policies and programmes to combat HIV/AIDS is clearly mapped out.

The ILO was represented by Mr. Jean-Francois Retournard, Director of Employers' Activities (ACT/EMP), employer activities specialists Mr. Joel Kaswarra from the Multidisciplinary Advisory Team for East Africa (EAMAT), Mr. Hezron Njuguna from the MDT for Southern Africa (SAMAT), and Mr. Soren Swensen from the ILO's International Training Centre at Turin. Dr. Benjamin Alli and Ms. Susan Leather represented the ILO's Programme on HIV/AIDS (ILO/AIDS). The workshop programme is attached at Appendix II and list of participants at Appendix III.

Keynote addresses

Participants were welcomed by **Mr. Tom Owuor**, Chairman of the FKE, who used a few well-chosen figures to present the scale of the problem of HIV/AIDS across Africa and within Kenya, where 800 people a day die of AIDS. He analysed a range of obstacles standing in the way of effective action, from ignorance and denial to poverty and the lack of health services. As a result productivity is being lost, food security is falling, health and welfare costs are rising, and the country faces an enormous challenge in managing a response to the epidemic, including the care of its 1.5 million orphans. Mr. Owuor argued that all sections of society need to mobilize to take action within their spheres of competence, and stressed the particular role employers can play in respect to their workforces and the wider community. The FKE is working with its members to establish AIDS programmes in every workplace.

Mr. R.G. Lenya, of the Kenya Federation of People living with HIV/AIDS, gave poignant insights into the exclusion and stigmatization experienced by most of those Kenyans who are knowingly living with HIV. He pointed out how important it is that those who have the virus are able to go on working in order to support themselves and their families, to maintain productivity at the enterprise, and not become a drain on the community. He thanked the FKE for taking a stand against discrimination and supporting those with AIDS: "those living with a hostile virus need friendship at the workplace", he said simply. The Chairman of the FKE Coastal Region Branch, Mr. George Kidenda, gave a brief overview of the FKE's activities since 1988, when it first produced guidelines on HIV/AIDS at the workplace. He made it clear that the FKE had developed its activities in a "spirit of tripartism" and close consultation with unions. Other landmarks included advocacy with the government to publicly acknowledge the socio-economic and workplace impact of AIDS, the production of a Code of Conduct on AIDS in 2000, and the training of nearly 700 personnel officers and managers in how to respond to HIV/AIDS (more details

below). He also focused on the issue of medication: lack of resources is a critical factor for countries like Kenya where only a tiny minority can afford medication. He urged national leaders and the international community to mobilize resources and campaign on pricing so that suitable treatment can become widely accessible.

Mr. Frederick Muia spoke on behalf of the IOE to make two main points: that HIV/AIDS is a serious and growing threat to the productivity and viability of enterprises, and that the workplace is an ideal place to develop effective responses, including prevention, care, and the clarification of the rights of those infected. In this respect, Mr. Muia said that the IOE strongly endorses the ILO code of practice, which provides an opportunity for a coordinated and systematic approach to workplace-related activities (see below for IOE contribution to panel discussion). Mr. Retournard of the ILO's Bureau for Employers' Activities urged employers not to be discouraged by the magnitude of the problem that faced them but to identify the concrete action they can take in their own spheres of influence and in partnership with others, nationally and globally. There are already encouraging examples of effective action which now need to be scaled up, but employers also need support and resources in order to be effective. Enterprises can't carry all the responsibility, and the role of government is vital. So, too, is the support of the international community and the ILO is now mobilized and ready to offer its support.

The Chairman of the Kenya National AIDS Control Council, Dr. Mohammed Abdalla, outlined the challenges and opportunities facing the campaign against AIDS in Kenya: the challenges include the attitudes of young people, who don't want to be advised on their behaviour, secrecy and cultural taboos, and the issue of global inequality in terms of access to resources. The opportunities include a better understanding of the virus, increasing political commitment, more resources and a more unified response. He included the work of the FKE among the opportunities, and reported that major progress had been made against discrimination and stigmatization since the FKE took a public stand against discrimination in employment and encouraged open discussion of the disease. "Behaviour will change when attitudes change, especially fear and exclusion of those with HIV". Mr. Paul de la Porte, UNDP's resident representative, endorsed this evaluation of the FKE's effectiveness and urged other employers to follow suit. He also pointed to the success of employers' activities in Uganda, where infection rates are now falling thanks to more open attitudes towards the disease and top-level commitment to take responsibility for reducing the spread of HIV. Behaviour change is a challenge but not an impossible one, as we can see if we look at the influence of American culture across the world. UNDP is supporting the production of a soap opera in Kenya that would include AIDS messages. He urged employers to work with a range of partners, especially the unions, to develop imaginative and wide-ranging responses.

Case Study

A rights-based approach to combating HIV/AIDS at the workplace: The FKE experience

A presentation was made by FKE to show the steps taken by one employers' organization to plan and implement a strategy to prevent HIV and mitigate its impact. Mr. Joel Momanyi, AIDS coordinator for the FKE, described the activities of the Federation, particularly over the past year since it became the national focal point for workplace interventions. It has been funded by UNDP, including the support of a national United Nations volunteer for two years. He emphasized, as had Mr. Owuor earlier, the vital role of the workplace in protecting rights and promoting behaviour change, as well as

in practical aspects of care and support such as workplace savings schemes which are proving very popular.

The main activities of the organization have included:

- setting up an advisory committee, including TUs, government officials, and NGOs;
- revising the FKE code of conduct on HIV/AIDS in the light of the ILO code and of changes in national legislation (AIDS has been identified as a communicable disease, which entails testing requirements and employment restrictions in certain sectors);
- conducting a survey of all FKE members including HIV/AIDS impact and needs assessment;
- sensitization of CEOs and human resource managers;
- development of a training manual;
- capacity-building of members, including training of managers and help for employers in setting up workplace AIDS committees, establishing a budget line (costs shared with FKE) and writing project proposals;
- networking and the exchange of good practices (including visits to Zambia, Zimbabwe, SA and Botswana);
- consultations with pharmaceutical and insurance companies.

Two key objectives for next year are to conduct a baseline study on impact and a KAP study, and to train 10 000 peer educators. Special attention is being given to the plantation and tourism sectors, and key principles include gender sensitivity and opposing sexual harassment; close cooperation with trade unions; campaigning for antiretroviral (ARV) treatment; and the widespread distribution of condoms.

Examples were given of action by individual companies, including sugar companies whose AIDS programmes include outreach into the community and special programmes for young people, 'the workers of tomorrow', and the KTGA, all of whose companies have AIDS coordinators and committees, including a 'Mama Condom' and Baba Condom' at every workplace, who are now so trusted that people go to them openly to ask for condoms, advice, and counselling; some have voluntary counselling and testing (VCT). In the view of the researcher concerned (the UN Volunteer), these workplace-based activities had 'largely broken' the culture of silence around AIDS.

Panel discussion: The international response to HIV/AIDS

The International Partnership against AIDS in Africa (IPAA)

Mr. Brian Williams gave a brief introduction to UNAIDS – now strengthened by the ILO's membership as the eighth cosponsor, and explained the origins and purpose of the IPAA. This is an alliance of governments, United Nations agencies, donors, businesses and community organizations, formed in 1999 not as an institution or agency but as a strategy to help coordinate and strengthen action against HIV/AIDS in Africa and support

advocacy. In particular, the IPAA has helped to increase the number of National AIDS Councils in Africa (they have doubled since 1999), promote the need for a national plan, and help increase national and international budgetary allocations for HIV/AIDS. The IPAA is in the process of developing a strategy for the private sector, to encourage enterprises to become involved in national efforts against AIDS and help guide their responses. The core of the strategy is to establish '3 steps for business': these are to set up a policy and programme on HIV/AIDS in every workplace; to take a public stand on AIDS action as a company; and to contribute to community-based activities outside the immediate workplace. The strategy should also provide the opportunity to share experiences and mobilize more resources for action at the workplace. Mr. Williams explained that the strategy is not yet final and he would welcome comments from participants.

The International Organization of Employers (IOE)

Mr. Muia developed some of the points he had made earlier on the IOE's role and contribution to national and global responses to HIV/AIDS. He outlined the way the IOE works and showed its relevance in the context of HIV/AIDS: the IOE defends employer interests at international level, promotes enterprise creation and development, strengthens the capacity of employers' organizations, and supports action on issues of concern, such as HIV/AIDS. The message of the IOE is that employers need to address AIDS in order to protect their enterprises, to enhance their company's image, and to contribute to the general welfare. Training is an appropriate activity for enterprises and a vital part of the national response. The IOE works with both the ILO and UNAIDS at national, regional and global levels: it promotes the participation of employers in United Nations Theme Groups and is currently preparing a handbook on initiatives taken by employers and their organizations, which will give examples of a range of workplace actions. Mr. Muia emphasized the importance of producing the time-bound action plan in order to move from discussion and into action, and distributed a draft from the IOE to feed into the process.

The ILO: The role of regional employers' advisers

Mr. Joel Kaswarra (EAMAT) and Mr. Hezron Njuguna (SAMAT) outlined the ways they are supporting employers' activities against HIV/AIDS. They showed that MDTs have a key role to play in promoting the exchange of information and good practice, in delivering technical support, and in assisting the development of workplace programmes on HIV/AIDS. Their work on AIDS is based on the ILO code, which they systematically promote, distribute and offer guidance on its use. Particular areas of focus include strategies to involve youth, to address gender issues, and to persuade employers of the cost-effectiveness of prevention programmes in enterprises. Mr. Kaswarra pointed to the pioneering work of the Uganda Employers' Federation, but regretted that denial is still high among many employers. Mr. Njuguna said that experience in his own sub-region also shows that employers still don't always see the full potential impact of the epidemic. Both emphasized the need to reach employers outside the federations and formal groupings, and to bring small enterprises and the informal economy into workplace-based responses to HIV/AIDS.

The relevance to enterprises of the ILO code of practice on HIV/AIDS and the world of work

Dr. Benjamin Alli and Ms. Susan Leather of ILO/AIDS introduced the code of practice, the ways employers can use it, and the main features of the ILO's strategy for its

implementation. The ILO developed the code in response to many requests for guidance from its tripartite constituents. It was reviewed and revised by a tripartite group of experts, adopted by the ILO Governing Body in June 2001, and launched at the United Nations General Assembly Special Session on HIV/AIDS in New York in the same month. The code contains key principles for policy development and practical guidelines for concrete responses at enterprise, community and national levels in the following key areas:

- prevention of HIV/AIDS;
- management and mitigation of the impact of HIV/AIDS on the world of work;
- care and support of workers infected and affected by HIV/AIDS;
- elimination of stigma and discrimination on the basis of real or perceived HIV status.

A comprehensive modular training package is in preparation to guide the application of the code by employers and other ILO constituents, but the code itself includes practical guidance both for policy development and for setting up workplace programmes. The code can support advocacy with governments to persuade them (where necessary) that AIDS is a workplace issue and that initiatives by the social partners require their support; it can also form the basis for revisions to labour legislation. At the same time, employers' federations can use the code to develop a policy for their own and their members' activities, and can promote workplace policies and programmes on the basis of guidelines in the code. The ILO will support these activities through advice and technical support, training programmes, and the development of workplace-based projects. Dr. Alli ended by giving advice on the important issue of resource mobilization, outlining some of the main sources of funds and offering the ILO's support in accessing them.

Strengthening the capacities of employers' organizations to combat HIV/AIDS

A particularly important contributor, by her presence as well as her presentation, was Ms. Siriwan Romchattong, Executive Director of the Employers' Confederation of Thailand (ECOT). This contact across regions was welcomed by many participants, and Ms. Romchattong also stressed how much she was learning from colleagues in Africa. The strategy of ECOT has been, first, advocacy with employers to persuade them of the scale of the problem and the effectiveness of intervening early. Secondly, it supports those interventions, through policy guidance, research and education. The ECOT 'steps' are as follows: prioritize needs, decide what is feasible, draw up a plan of action, link it to a time frame. Ms. Romchattong said how useful the ILO code is both as a tool for advocacy and to guide plans of action.

ECOT encourages employers to take on all or most of the following activities, in a spirit of trust and dialogue with workers and government:

- analysis of workplace situation;
- tripartite policy development;
- collaboration with other relevant agencies;
- identification of focal points, establishment of task forces for prevention and care;
- 'Friend for Friend' clubs to bring together the informed and non-informed;

- education for attitude change;
- training of educators and other activists;
- Campaigns and awards for occupational safety and health.

Ms. Romchattong said that employers can be encouraged to take action through appealing to their sense of citizenship and care for their corporate image; through tax incentives, contests and campaigns; and even by penalizing employers who persist in discrimination. She urged governments to support employers in these and other ways, and to help them share their experience of successful interventions.

Panel discussion: Enterprise programmes on HIV/AIDS

Presentations were made by a panel of employers from Botswana, Ghana, Kenya, South Africa, Tanzania, Uganda, Zambia, and Zimbabwe, with other interventions from the floor.

Botswana

The employers' organization (EO) undertakes advocacy with members on HIV/AIDS and offers advice, but does not have the resources for a full-time AIDS coordinator. They would like to integrate an AIDS component into ongoing training programmes. Some large companies (e.g. De Beers) have taken quite comprehensive action, but much less is being done by small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs). The representative reported on the 'Men against AIDS' awareness campaign – targeted at rural areas in particular, and the fact that the government contributes to treatment costs for people who go forward for voluntary testing.

Egypt

The strategy of the EO is to hold a 'watching brief' on the situation, plus a campaign of awareness-raising among members about the need for prevention in order to keep infection rates low. The EO would welcome figures on the costs of interventions at the workplace as well as of the epidemic.

Ethiopia

The EO reported that they have taken a tripartite approach, mobilizing employers and worker representatives in 11 cities and 150 enterprises through awareness-raising workshops. Collaboration is close with the national AIDS committee, NGOs, people living with HIV/AIDS (PLWHA), the press, and other stakeholders.

Ghana

Although infection rates are relatively low, the EO was aware of the impact of AIDS on enterprises in East and Southern Africa and started a programme with UNFPA funding: they established links with the trade unions then held a tripartite meeting; developed a policy based on the ILO code; sensitized chief executive officers (CEOs); developed

training materials; and are training peer educators in cooperation with the TUs – the strategy is to train educators to set up workplace committees, who will in turn train the workforce. Their target is 8000 committees by June 2002. Employers have released workers to be trained in working time; at least two women are included in each group of trainees. The EO has engaged a consultant to undertake a study of the impact and costs of AIDS on enterprises.

South Africa

It should be noted that there are several EOs in South Africa, most of them sector-specific. The speaker was representing Business South Africa and has links with many other enterprises. She stressed the fact that although large corporations are doing an enormous amount on AIDS, there is little follow-through in SMEs, mainly because of the lack of human resources. The EOs themselves have played an advocacy role, but done little to help with programme development. The President's public position caused some employers to stop workplace education, but the impact on profits is starting to speak more loudly: in the mining sector over recent years, absenteeism has doubled, TB has increased five-fold, and mortality ten-fold. The greatest losses are among skilled operators, meaning high replacement costs, and up to about 20% of payroll costs are for pensions and health benefits. The speaker stressed two types of intervention: education programmes to help workers understand their own risk, and advocacy between employers. She also said that people are starting to get tired of 'AIDS messages' – a number of enterprises now educate on general 'wellness', with messages about diet, exercise, stress management etc. as well as AIDS.

Swaziland

The speaker stressed the fact that it is relatively easy for large companies to take action on AIDS: the challenge is to build the capacity of SMEs. They have therefore set up a coalition that includes SMEs and the larger companies. This has launched a campaign around the slogan, 'Our company cares', based on a short version of the ILO code principles. It also promotes education about transmission risks and encourages voluntary counselling and testing (VCT): 'Know your status – the sooner you know it, the sooner we can help'. NGOs are involved for education, condom provision, VCT and other health services.

Tanzania

Larger companies have set up a Human Resources Forum, and the EO has played a role in advocating action on AIDS, as well as raising awareness among their members. A lack of resources has prevented the EO being more active, but the speaker expressed the hope that now that a national AIDS policy has been developed, with a workplace component based on the ILO code, that this will stimulate more systematic action. He cited the example of Brooke Bond, which has had a programme in place since 1991, not only in their plantations but in surrounding villages as well; they provide and encourage VCT.

Uganda

The Federation of Ugandan Employers started work on AIDS in 1988, encouraged by the multisectoral approach of the national AIDS committee. Their programme is now based on the training of trainers on five-day courses, who in turn train peer educators; all

training includes a gender perspective. They have trained: 900 trainers, 8000 peer educators, 200 000 workers, 300 CEOs. Studies have shown positive behaviour changes in terms of safer sex. Of 150 companies in the Federation, about 30% have comprehensive and sustainable programmes: the target is 70% by end 2003. Sustainability is enhanced through AIDS trainers clubs (national & regional levels) and peer educators clubs (workplace & community levels). Challenges include poverty and the impact of structural adjustment programmes (SAPs), resulting in privatization and retrenchment, and thus the loss of may trainers. The HIV rates nationally were reported as follows: 18.5% in 1995, 14.7% in 1997, 9.1% in 1998, just below 8% in 2001.

Zambia

The National AIDS Council has provided guidelines for all stakeholders, including the workplace partners, and structures to help disseminate information. A Business Coalition has been established, with the big employers in the lead. The programme at Barclays Bank, for example, focuses on both prevention and counselling to help prolong life, and has resulted in an atmosphere of openness and trust. Studies have been carried out by Barclays into impact and costs for their workplaces. The Zambia Revenue Authority (ZRA), among others, is now following the Barclays 'model':

- (1) Make AIDS a corporate issue, so that related activities are included in the company strategy.
- (2) Give responsibility for implementation to Human Resource Development (HRD), so that it's covered by their programme and budget, and the HRD manager has to report to the CEO.
- (3) Include care and support as well as prevention: the ZRA is (i) taking part in national negotiations over drug prices, and (ii) has developed a special insurance plan, with contributions from employer and employee, to cover ARV drugs if it becomes necessary.

Zimbabwe

Both the Government and NGOs have responded actively to AIDS, with the involvement of the workplace partners. A levy has been imposed on businesses to fund AIDS programmes (including care) in cooperation with the workers; there have, however, been problems with disbursement. The EO has concentrated on policy development and training, and has recently joined the Zimbabwe Project for Access to Care and Treatment – this includes monitoring the spread of TB, and training counsellors and facilitators. Discrimination is common in employment and access to workplace insurance schemes – the EO is trying to raise awareness among its members. VCT is encouraged; programmes are gender-aware.

Developing a time-bound action plan to combat HIV/AIDS

The main activity on the second day was work in four groups to develop a plan of action for employers' organizations. Each group worked on a template provided by FKE and presented their objectives and proposed activities to the plenary. A working group was appointed to combine the four sets of proposals into one plan, whose outline was then

approved by a further plenary session. A final version was printed and distributed to participants before they left (Appendix I).

Conclusions

It was clear that the Employers' organizations in the countries represented are at very different stages in terms of commitment, mobilization of resources, and effectiveness. At the same time, there was motivation among the participants to take stronger action, and a clear perception of the need for policy development for the organizations themselves and their members. This strategic understanding is very important, and something that the ILO can support and help turn into action. The code is clearly part of the means for doing this, as is the plan of action.

All three objectives of the workshop were met, in particular the drafting of a comprehensive and useful action plan of action for employers' organizations (see Appendix I). The following factors also contributed to the general evaluation that the workshop was very successful:

- It was well organized and the venue well chosen.
- The participants were concentrated and hard-working, and played a full part.
- There was a strong sense of urgency around the issue and a commitment to active follow-up.
- There was a good sharing of experience and forging of contacts: the Asia-Africa contact was especially welcomed.
- It gave employers an opportunity to share concerns about some of the requirements and responsibilities being placed on them.
- Gave participants the opportunity to raise certain issues of sensitivity, especially related to traditional cultural practices.
- It permitted employers from lower-prevalence countries to understand the issues more fully and 'come up to speed'.
- It gave ILO/AIDS useful feedback on the ILO code of practice and on the application of the FKE code, as well as information about problems and activities in a range of countries.

Recommendations for action by the ILO

- Circulate the FKE case study and plan of action within ILO/AIDS and to selected focal points, especially ACT/EMP and ACTRAV.
- Consider publication, perhaps with UNAIDS.
- Obtain other studies, training materials and policies mentioned in presentations to include in ILO/AIDS database and share with constituents.

- Hold an informal meeting/brainstorm with the Interdepartmental Task Force on HIV/AIDS to see what can be learned from the above, both about the impact of the epidemic and about effective responses.
- Feed lessons learned into the ILO/AIDS training manual, possibly including parts of the case study and action plan.
- Report briefly in the ILO/AIDS newsletter and include a fuller version on the website.
- Plan follow-up to the workshop in a programmatic way with ACT/EMP and other key players, but also identify existing projects/ proposals that could be strengthened by reference to the plan of action.

Appendix I

Time-bound plan for employers' organizations on HIV/AIDS

Development objective: To reduce the rate of HIV/AIDS infections through workplace-based education and prevention programmes and to improve the workplace environment for workers living with HIV/AIDS

Specific objectives	Activities	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	Responsible	Partners	Resources
To define the problem	Organize baseline surveys		Χ				National	ILO/	IPAA/
facing employers	of impact costs and						employers'	UNAIDS	UNAIDS
	responses by members						organizations or	research	ILO models
							federation (EO)	inst.	(in
								Donors	preparation)
To brief board/	- Report back from	Х					Workshop	(ILO)	ILO code
executive committee	Mombasa	Х					participants		
of the employers'	- Present ILO code								
organizations	- Report survey findings		Χ				EO		
To inform members	- Distribute relevant		Χ				EO	Workers	ILO code &
	information (inc. above)							Govt.	factsheets
	- Hold workshops for						Members	NGOs	
	decision-makers		Х						
	- Find strategic partners		Χ						
	- Find 'champions' to		.,						
	advocate with other		Х						
-	employers							111	
To develop national	- Set up broad-based		Х				EO and	Workers	ILO code
strategy for	working-group, inc. all						sectoral	Govt.	
employers'	relevant stakeholders		.,				employers'	ILO	
organizations as well	- Work out strategy, with		Χ				associations	IOE	l. _
as sectoral strategies on HIV/AIDS	ref. to ILO code (esp.							NGOs	IPAA private
prevention and	Annex III)								sector
education at the place	- Develop guidelines for		Х						strategy
of work	employers								
OI WOIK									
To obtain commitment	They should:		Х				EO		
of members	- Sign off to National								
	employers' organizations						Members		
	strategy								
	- Appoint AIDS focal								
	point/committee								
	- Allocate funds								
	- Develop company/								
	workplace policy, incl.								
	Communications strategy								
To implement	1. Prevention		Х				EO	Workers	ILO training
workplace programme	(i) Information (using all							Govt.	manual (in
	media) about company							NGOs	preparation)
	policy, HIV transmission						Mambara		NCO º
	(ii) Education (participatory,						Members		NGO & UNAIDS
	gender aware, culturally							11.0/	
	sensitive) to promote attitude & behaviour							ILO/ UNAIDS	materials
								ONAIDS	
	change 2. Care and support, inc.							UN Theme	
	encouragement of VCT,							Groups	
	condom distribution,		Х					Groups	
	condom distribution,		^						

Specific objectives	Activities	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	Responsible	Partners	Resources
	healthy living advice (see ILO code section 9) 3. Monitor impact of AIDS using indicators e.g. absenteeism, morbidity,							Donors	
	condom use, attitude change (surveys)								
To reach out to small and medium enterprises	Adapt policies, programmes, materials to needs of SMEs Establish partnerships between SMEs and larger enterprises		X				EO Members	ILO/ UNAIDS NGOs	
To monitor and evaluate activities	Set up mechanisms to audit activities of members Monitor impact on enterprises at regular intervals Workshop to exchange lessons learned		X	X X	X	Х	EO	ILO/ UNAIDS	
To mobilize resources	Assess requirements (human, technical, financial) Identify and mobilize internal and external resources	X					EO Members	ILO/ UNAIDS UN Theme Groups Embassies and European Union regional offices	Global Fund

Appendix II

Workshop programme

Monday 26 November

08.00 - 08.30	Registration
08.30 - 08.35	Welcome address by the FKE Executive Director, Mr Tom D. Owuor
08.35 - 08.40	A special message from the Executive Director, Association of People Living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya, Mr R. G. Lenya
08.40 - 09.20	An address by the FKE Chairman, Coast Branch, Mr George Kidenda, on the Theme of the Workshop
09.20 - 09.30	An address by the IOE Regional Employers' Adviser for Africa, Mr. Frederick Muia
09.30 - 09.55	An address by the Director, ILO Bureau for Employers' Activities, Mr Jean-Francois Retournard
09.55 - 10.15	An address by the Chairman of the Kenya National AIDS Control Council, Dr Mohammed Abdalla
10.15 -10.30	Official opening of the Workshop by the UNDP Resident Representative in Kenya, Mr Paul Andre de la Porte
10.30 -10.45	Coffee Break
10.45 -11.05	A rights-based approach to combating HIV/AIDS at the workplace: the FKE Experience.
	Mr Joel Momanyi, FKE Senior Training Consultant & HIV/AIDS Programme Co-ordinator, Miss Diana Kageni, National United Nations Volunteer Specialist on HIV/AIDS
11.05 -13.00	Panel discussion on the international response to HIV/AIDS:
	The International Partnership Against HIV/AIDS in Africa: Developing a strategy for the private sector - Brian Williams, UNAIDS
	The IOE response to HIV/AIDS - Mr Frederick Muia
	The Role of the ILO's Regional Employers' Advisers in combating HIV/AIDS - Mr H. M. Njuguna (ILO/SAMAT), Mr Joel Kaswarra (ILO/EAMAT)
13.00 -14.00	Lunch Break
14.00 -14.30	The relevance to enterprises of the ILO Code of practice on HIV/AIDS and the world of work - Dr Benjamin Alli, Ms Susan Leather, ILO/AIDS
14.30 -15.00	Strengthening the capacities of employers' organizations to combat HIV/AIDS - Ms Siriwan Romchattong, Executive Director of the Employers' Confederation of Thailand (ECOT)
15.00-15.15	Coffee Break
15.15 -17.30	Panel Discussion on Enterprise Programmes HIV/AIDS at the Place of Work
17.30 -18.45	Reception: Haller Park Restaurant - Courtesy of Bamburi Cement Limited

Tuesday 27 November

08.30 -10.30	Discussion of time-bound strategies to combat HIV/AIDS – Moderator, Dr Benjamin Alli, ILO/AIDS, followed by working groups
10.30 -13.00	Continuation of group work
13.00 -14.15	Lunch Break
14.15 -15.30	Adoption of the Mombasa Time-Bound Action Plan to Combat HIV/AIDS at the workplace
15.45 -16.00	Adoption of the report of the Meeting
16.00 -16.30	Closing ceremony by Mr Jonathan Muturi, Chairman Kenya Ports Authority
19.00	Reception: Nyali Beach Hotel - Courtesy of Kenya Ports Authority

Appendix III

List of participants

Name of Participant	Job Title	Company	Address	Telephone	Fax / Email
Abdalla, Dr. M.S.	Chairman		P.O. Box 20707, Nairobi,	740607	747417
			Kenya		Abdullah@iconnect.co.ke
Alli, Dr. Benjamin O.	Senior Technical Specialist	ILO/AIDS	ILO, Geneva	799 7099	alli@ilo.org
Anang, Rose K.	Executive Director	Ghana Employers Association	P.O. Box 2516, Accra, Ghana	233 21 678449	geadim@ghanaemployers.org
Asghedom, Tekeste	Chairperson – HIV/AIDS	Employers Federation	P.O. Box 2911, Asmara,	126595	122882
	National Committee	of Eritrea	Eritrea 291-1		faidex@gemel.com.er
Beaudouin, Gilbert S.	Chief Executive Officer	Federation of Employers' Associations of Seychelles	P O Box 214, Victoria, Mahé, Seychelles	00 248 324969	feas@seychelles.net 00248 324996
Berhanu, Taye	Executive Director	EEF	Addis Ababa, Ethiopia	523419	251 523419 eef@telecom.net.et
Dambuleni, W.L.	Executive Director	ECAM	Box 2134, Blantyre, Malawi	265 939077	cosmie@malawi.net
de la Porte, Paul Andre	Resident Representative	UNDP	Gigiri, Nairobi, Kenya	629985	
Ismael, Dr. Mahmoud M.	Director, OH Services	Social Protection Office, Djibouti	BP 10110, Djibouti	352161	354769
Kageni, Diana	National United Nations Volunteer Specialist	FKE	P.O. Box 48311, Nairobi, Kenya	720262	dkageni@yahoo.co.uk
Kaswarra, Joel	Employers Specialist	EAMAT	Box 2788, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia	251 1 444412	251 1 513633 kaswarra@ilo.org
Katorogo, Chris	Training/Marketing Officer	Federation of Uganda Employers	P.O. Box 3820, Kampala, Uganda	220201	fue@infocom.co.ug
Kezzah, Mary M.	Senior Labour Officer	Min. of Labour and HRD	P.O. Box 40326, Nairobi	729800	marykezzah@hotmail.com
Konditi, Gershon	Deputy Executive Director	FKE	P.O. Box 48311, Nairobi, Kenya	721929/49	fke@arcc.or.ke
Laval, Wong Moi Sang	Employers' Adviser	Mauritius Employers Federation	13 Charic St. P. Louis, Mauritius	230 2121599	Fax: 2126725 I.wong@mef-online.org

		·		- -	: 1:
Name of Participant	Job Litle	Company	Address	l elephone	Fax / Email
Leather, Susan	Information &	ILO/AIDS	ILO, Geneva	41 222996859	leather@ilo.org
	Communications Unit				
Lenya, R.G.	Chief Executive	TAPWAK	P.O. Box 30583, Nairobi,	603421	tapwak@kenyaonline.com
			Kenya		
Masire, Orefitelhetse	TR & HR Manager	Botswana	P.O. Box 432, Gaborone,	267 353459	boctraining@info.bw
		Confederation of	Botswana		
		Commerce			
Meja, Paul	National Coordinator – HIV	Kenya Catholic	P.O. Box 20740, Nairobi,	443133	health@catholicchurch.or.ke
	AIDS	Secretariat	Kenya		
Momanyi, Joel O.B.	HIV/AIDS Programme Coordinator	FKE	P.O. Box 48311, Nairobi	720242	fke@arcc.or.ke
Muchai, George M.	Deputy Secretary General	COTU (K)	P.O. Box 13000, Nairobi	330275	
Muia, Frederick	Regional Adviser for Africa	10E	26, Chemin de Joinville	+41229290000/20	muia@ioe-emp.org
			1210, Collidin, Geneva		:
Munjanja, F.J.	Human Resources Director	SMM Holdings	Box 3985	263 4 754625-9	munjanja@turnall.co.zw
		(Turnall Fibre Cement)	Harare, Zimbabwe		
Mwithiga, Muthoni	Manager – Private Sector	National Aids Control Council	P.O. Box 61307, Nairobi, Kenya	249045/715144/1261	muthonim@chasecyber.com
Naguib, Daroueche	Employers Chairman	Opaco Comoros	B.P. 472, Moroni, Comoros	00 269 731418	00 269 732528
					dceta@snpt.km
Namasake, J.N.	Principal Executive Officer	FKE	P.O. Box 48311, Nairobi	720262	fke@arcc.or.ke
Nasirembe, J.W.T.	Head of HR	Mumias Sugar Co. Ltd.	Private Bag, Mumias, Kenya	0333 41620/1	jwtnasirembe@mumias-
			ixonya		agai:com
Njuguna, H. M.	Employers' Specialist	ILO	P.O. Box 210, Harare, Zimbabwe	369805	njuguna@ilosamat.org
Nketani, Bursch C.	Director, HR	Zambia Revenue	P.O. Box 35710, Lusaka,	01 260 226226	01-260-226226
		Authority	Zambia		nketanib@zra.org.zm
Onyach, Jared O.	Human Resources Manager	Sony Sugar	P.O. Box 107, Sare, Kenya	0387 43620	onyach.j@sonysugar.co.ke
Otieno, Dr L.S.	Professor of Medicine	Kenya Medical Association	P.O. Box 48502, Nairobi	717170	kmanec@wananchi.com
Ownor, T.D.	Executive Director	FKE	P.O. Box 48311, Nairobi, Kenya	721929/48	fke@arcc.or.ke
Pacule, Otila	Economist Adviser	CTA Confederation of	Av. 10 de Novembro	258131174/5/6	258 1 311732
		Mozambique Business Associations	(Recinto Dr. FACIM), Maputo, Mozambique		opacule@cta.org.lltz
Randall, Christine	BSA Representative	Business South Africa	Johannesburg, South Africa	2711829010576	271 16781611 chris.randall@acenet.co.za
					cin is randam (c) accinetion

Name of Participant	Job Title	Company	Address	Telephone	Fax / Email
Retournard, J.F.	Director	ILO Bureau for	ILO, Geneva	799 62 861	
		Employers' Activities			
Romchattong,	Executive Director	Employers	1055/3 Srinakarin Road,	662 398 4880-9	Ecot@loxinfo.co.th
Siriwan		Confederation of	BKK/0260, Thailand)
		Thailand			
Schoeib, Adel	Director General	Chamber of Eng.	13, Sheriff Street, Cairo,	000202 3957532	schoeib@hotmail.com
		Industry	Egypt		
Sephomolo, Lindiwe	Deputy Executive Director	Association of Lesotho	P.O. Box 1509, Maseru	266 315736	alemp@ilesotho.com
		Employers	100, Lesotho		
Shihepo, Simonee	HIV/AIDS Programme	Chamber of Mines of	P.O. Box 2895, Windhoek,	0926461 237925	shihepo@iway.com
	Coordinator	Namibia	Namibia		
Sikira, Jones	Director HR	Association of Tanzania	P.O. Box 4955, Dar es	022 263 4000	
		Employers	Salaam, Tanzania		
Swensen, Soren D.C.	Employers' Specialist	ILO Training Centre	Turin, Italy		s.swensen@itcilo.it
Von Wissel, Derek		Federation of	Box 777, Mbabane,	268-4060768	4041374
		Employers Business	Swaziland		dvw@africaonline.co.sz
		Coalition			
Williams, Brian	IPAA Adviser	UNAIDS	UNAIDS, Geneva	41 22 791 4929	williamsb@unaids.org